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Background 

This case involved Boca Grande Island, which lies within the Key West National Wildlife Refuge 
(KWNWR).  The KWNWR, established in 1908, is managed by the United States Fish and Wildlife 
Service (FWS).  Islands within the refuge were designated part of the National Wilderness 
Preservation System under the Wilderness Act of 1964.  Pub. L. 88-577. 

The FWS and State of Florida Department of Natural Resources developed a new management 
plan for two wildlife refuges, including the KWNWR, in 1992 called the “Management Agreement 
for Submerged Land Within the Boundaries of the Key West and Great Heron National Wildlife 
Refuges.”  The objectives of the Plan included protecting Boca Grande Key and its ecosystem. 

The plan required permits for commercial operations within the wildlife refuges.  A permit 
application process was designed.  Permits would be awarded to commercial enterprises whose 
use was compatible with the purposes of the refuge. 

McGrail and Rowley, Inc. (MRI), were commercial operators, running passengers via catamaran to 
Boca Grande Key.  The FWS alerted MRI in January 1994 that a permit was required.  MRI applied 
for a permit June 23, 1994.  The FWS denied its application August 3, 1994, stating that MRI’s use 
of the refuge was incompatible with the purposes of the refuge.  MRI continued to carry 
passengers via catamaran to the key without a permit.  In October 1994, MRI appealed the FWS’s 
decision.  The FWS responded by not processing the appeal, claiming, “‘an appeal is meaningless’ 
so long as MRI continued to use the refuge for commercial purposes without a permit.”  986 F. 
Supp. at 1390.  MRI filed suit against the FWS March 10, 1995, hoping the court would order the 
processing of MRI’s appeal as well as decide several other issues relating to operation within the 
refuge and the commercial permit process. 

The court issued temporary restraining orders (TROs) March 21, 1995.  First, the court forbade 
government seizure of any of MRI’s boats or arrest of any of the captains working for 
MRI.  Second, the court prohibited MRI from breaking any federal laws relating to the KWNWR. 

After the TROs were in place, the FWS alerted MRI that it was proceeding with MRI’s appeal.  On 
May 22, 1995 the FWS Regional Director upheld the permit denial. 

Once the FWS had processed MRI’s appeal, Count 1 in this suit was moot.   

The other issues were addressed. 

Plaintiffs 

Identities  

McGrail and Rowley, Inc.; Herbert Pontin. 

Contentions 



McGrail and Rowley owned McGrail and Rowley, Inc. (MRI), a business running catamarans in the 
waters off Key West, Florida.  MRI filed suit to order the FWS to file its permit application appeal 
and to resolve several issues concerning the FWS management and permit process.   

Pontin, a captain for MRI, was cited for refuge trespass while operating an individual jet ski.  He 
challenged the FWS action for citing him with a Notice of Violation for trespassing in refuge waters. 

Defendants 

Identities 

Bruce Babbitt, Secretary of the United States Department of the Interior, and several officials of the 
United States Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS). 

Contentions 

The defendants argued that the permit application process was legitimate and that the plaintiffs’ 
application was properly denied. 

Result 

The court held that the FWS acted appropriately in denying the plaintiff’s permit application.  The 
court ordered MRI to provide an account of fees and costs for reimbursement under Equal Access 
to Justice Act. 

Case Issues 

(1) What is the extent of judicial review for actions taken by the Fish and Wildlife Service?  If 
subject to the court’s review, what is the scope of judicial review? 

(2) Did the FWS act in “bad faith” ? 

(3) Was the FWS action “arbitrary and capricious” ? 

(4) Was the FWS Refuge Manual binding on FWS actions? 

(5) Did the FWS have authority over state lands and waters? 

(6) How should refuge boundary violations be resolved? 

Court’s Holdings 

(1) On the extent of judicial review:   

The court held that the actions of the FWS were reviewable under section 706 of the Administrative 
Procedure Act.  5 U.S.C. § 701 et seq.  Section 706 requires the court to restrict its review to the 
agency’s administrative record.  

The court could expand its review beyond the administrative record providing it could prove 



allegations that the FWS acted in “bad faith.”   

(2) On whether the FWS acted in “bad faith”:  

The court held that while the FWS acted in “bad faith” by refusing to process MRI’s appeal, it found 
that the agency did not act in “bad faith” in the decision-making process. 

(3) On whether the agency’s actions were arbitrary and capricious:   

The court held that the agency’s decision that MRI’s uses were incompatible with the purposes of 
the refuge was not arbitrary and capricious.  The refuge and wilderness within it were established 
to protect wildlife, birds, and their habitat.  MRI’s business ventures, including playing frisbee in the 
shallow water on the beach and kayaking around the shore, were found to have potentially 
negative impacts on the sensitive ecosystem of the keys.  In reviewing the agency’s decision, the 
court found that it acted appropriately. 

(4) On whether the FWS Manual was binding on FWS actions:   

The court found that the FWS Manual was not binding on FWS actions.  While the manual 
provided guidance to the FWS, the court found no precedents in which manuals were found 
binding. 

(5) On whether the FWS had the authority to regulate state lands and waters:   

The court held that the FWS had the authority to regulate commercial use of federal lands 
including submerged lands and adjacent state waters.  The authority was vested in the FWS 
through the Property Clause of the Constitution.  The Property Clause states “The Congress shall 
have Power to dispose of and make all needful Rules and Regulations respecting the Territory or 
other Property belonging to the United States ….”  986 F. Supp. at 1394 quoting The Constitution, 
Article IV, § 3, cl. 2.  In United States v. Lindsey, 595 F.2d 5, 6 (9

th
 Cir. 1979), the court expanded 

the federal government’s authority to include, “non-federal land ‘when reasonably necessary to 
protect adjacent federal property or navigable waters.’”  986 F. Supp. at 1394.  Therefore, the court 
held that the FWS was acting within its authority in regulating access to state-owned waters off 
Boca Grande Key. 

(6) On how trespass violations should be resolved:   

The court held that because the payment schedule for refuge trespasses was defective, it could 
not decide on the plaintiffs’ challenge to agency authority. 

Administrative Order 89-39, by United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, 
established that refuge trespass violations could be resolved with payment of collateral (the violator 
could pay a fine instead of appearing in court).  The court held that refuge violations were classified 
as Class A misdemeanors—the punishment included a maximum of $100,000 in fines or up to one 
year in prison.  However, according to Local Rule 88.4, only Class B misdemeanors (carrying a 
maximum fine of $100,000 or six months in prison) could be resolved with payments in 
collateral.  A federal rule allows for local rules to determine which offenses may use payment of 
collateral procedures Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 58. The court found that because refuge 
trespasses were Class A offenses, Administrative Order 89-39 was in violation of Local Rule 88.4 
and therefore null and void. 
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